2015

**Diane Viel Ty and Jacob Lopez, Plaintiffs and Appellants, v. Utah State Retirement Board and Public Employees' Group Ter. Life Progr., Defendants and Appellees.**

Utah Court of Appeals

## **JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

Jurisdiction lies with the Utah Court of Appeals. A formal administrative hearing was held on July 16, 2015 before the Adjudicative Hearing Office of J. Dennis Frederick. Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2) "[t]he Court of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction . . . over a final order. . . from a formal adjudicative proceeding of a state agency. . . ."

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW**

### **Statement of Issues Presented**

The principal issue of the case, and this appeal, is that Mr. Lopez contractually incorporated his decree of divorce into his life insurance contract with the Appellees, Utah State Retirement Board and Public Employees' Group Term Life Program (hereinafter together referenced as the "Life Program"), making his designation of Ms. Welty irrevocable pursuant to the terms of the incorporated contract.

The hearing officer erred in his interpretation of Chapter 20, Title 40 of the Utah Code by denying Ms Welty's request for payment of life insurance proceeds. The principles of law and equity dictate that Ms. Welty was the

irrevocable beneficiary under Jesse Lopez's life insurance policy. The Life Program paid the incorrect beneficiary under a forbidden change of beneficiary form because Ms. Welty had been designated an irrevocable beneficiary under the terms of the incorporated contract. The hearing officer ignored clear authority when he denied Ms. Welty's request for payment of life insurance proceeds.

Title 49 Chapter 20 of the Utah Code provides general guidelines for the state of Utah to create various group insurance programs for state employees. At the state's discretion, these programs may be offered to various cities to offer to city employees, at the city's discretion. Mr. Lopez, Ms. Welty's ex-spouse and Jacob Lopez's father, elected to participate in some of the offered programs offered by his city employer.

The statute is general in nature and allows the state to develop its own guidelines in offering and administering these insurance products. The applicable guidelines to the case at hand is known as the Life Program Group Term Master Policy (the "Master Policy"). The Master Policy creates the contractual obligations of the Life Program and the covered employees. The Master Policy specifically allows for the

written statements of covered employees to be part of the contract. Nothing in the Master Policy prevents a covered employee from irrevocably designating beneficiaries, nor does any provision permit the Life Program to administer the contracts in contravention of a court order.

Unfortunately the findings of fact and conclusions of law provide a scant record related to the hearing officer's interpretation and application of title 49, the contractual issues presented before the officer, or review of the applicable case law. The record's deficiencies highlight the need for this appeal. There are no findings of fact or conclusions of law related to the incorporation of the divorce decree into Mr. Lopez's life insurance contract. There are no findings of fact or conclusions of law related to Ms. Welty's argument about the forbidden nature of subsequent change of beneficiary forms. There are no findings of fact or conclusions of law related to the Life Program's actions taken in contravention of a court order.

#### **Standard of Review**

The hearing officer's order relies on interpretation of Title 49, Chapter 20 of the Utah Code. The Court of Appeals reviews decisions related to interpretation of statute

under a "correction-of-error standard" and gives no deference to the Board's interpretation under the Act.<sup>1</sup>

### **DETERMINATIVE STATUTORY PROVISIONS**

The following provisions are determinative to the issues set forth in this appeal:

"(1) The program shall: (a) act as a self-insurer of employee benefit plans and administer those plans . . . ."  
Utah Code Ann. 49-20-401(1)(a)

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **Nature of the Case**

The case stems from Ms. Welty's demand for payment of life insurance proceeds on a life insurance policy upon the death of Jesse Lopez. The life insurance policy was administered by the Life Program. The facts are largely

---

<sup>1</sup> See *Hilton v. State Ret. Bd.*, 2005 Utah App. LEXIS 405, 2005 UT App 408 (Utah Ct. App. 2005); *Epperson v. Utah State Ret. Bd.*, 949 P.2d 779, 781 (Utah Ct. App. 1997); *O'Keefe v. Utah State Retirement Bd.*, 929 P.2d 1112, 1114 (Utah Ct.App.1996), cert. granted, 939 P.2d 683 (Utah 1997); *Allred v. Utah State Retirement Bd.*, 914 P.2d 1172, 1174 (Utah Ct. App. 1996).

agreed to by the parties.

The Life Program wrongfully paid life insurance proceeds according to a forbidden change of beneficiary form. Diane Welty and Jesse Lopez divorced in 1997 and, per the divorce decree, Mr. Lopez was to "maintain in full force and effect" a life insurance policy which designated Diane Welty the irrevocable beneficiary for the benefit of the children as long as child support was due.

Mr. Lopez complied with the decree by submitting a copy of his divorce decree along with his beneficiary change form to the Life Program, administered by the Life Program. The submission of the divorce decree met all legal requirements to incorporate the irrevocable designation of Ms. Welty as beneficiary into Mr. Lopez's contract with the life program. This incorporation by written statement was specifically allowed by the terms of the Master Policy which governs the contractual relationship between Mr. Lopez and the Life Program. By attaching a copy of the divorce decree, the Life Program was notified that the beneficiary change was irrevocable under Utah law. The Life Program was bound by the Third District Court ruling and was contractually bound to abide by the irrevocable

language in the divorce decree. Utah law is clear that when there is an irrevocable clause in a court-entered decree of divorce, it must be obeyed. The Life Program was contractually bound to designate Ms. Welty future beneficiary until Mr. Lopez's youngest child reached an age of majority.

During the formal hearing, the administrator of the Life Program declared that the PEHP has the authorization to refuse forms based upon a number of factors. Any change of beneficiary form submitted prior to the time Jacob Lopez turned majority age was forbidden pursuant to court order and incorporation of such court order into the contract. PEHP should have denied any attempts made by Mr. Lopez, or anyone else, to circumvent the parties' contractual rights or the court-entered divorce decree.

The order by the Utah State Retirement Board is contrary to the principles of equity, as well as interpretation of the contract. First, Ms. Welty had limited ability to monitor the beneficiary of the life insurance. Her only real method was to file motions in state court related to Mr. Lopez's obligations under the divorce decree. She did so, and Mr. Lopez complied with his

obligation by providing a copy of the divorce decree to designate Ms. Welty the irrevocable beneficiary to the life insurance. Ms. Welty had no way of knowing, or monitoring if Mr. Lopez decided to submit a subsequent change of beneficiary form.

On the other hand, the Life Program had a simple method of monitoring, by simply making note on the file that the beneficiary had been designated as irrevocable and forbid subsequent attempts to change the beneficiary forms. Further, the life insurance was in place, until the children reached the age of majority, to provide support for Mr. Lopez's biological children. Mr. Lopez desired for his son, Jacob, to attend college and specified to Jacob and Ms. Welty that these funds from the life insurance policy were to help support Jacob's education. The Utah State Retirement Board's mistake robbed Jacob of the intended benefit of the life insurance. Jacob has significant student loan debt because the Life Program granted the benefit of the life insurance to the wrong person.

#### Course of Proceedings

Ms. Welty filed a request for board action after her

claim on certain life insurance proceeds was denied by the Life Program. Ms Welty subsequently amended her request on April 5, 2013. The case proceeded through the administrative framework and was heard at a formal administrative hearing on July 16, 2015. The parties submitted stipulated facts and the only testimony taken at the hearing was from Ms. Welty, Jacob Lopez, and Chris Lamkin.

#### **Disposition Below**

The hearing officer ruled that the Life Program conformed with the requirements of Title 49, Chapter 20. The hearing officer did not offer a legal memorandum of his decision and his decision contains very little citation to statute or law.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

##### **Stipulated Facts**

The parties largely stipulated to the facts of the case. The statement of Stipulated Facts is included in the record page number 240. Ms. Welty and her son incorporate the Stipulated Facts in their entirety and recite them herein:

1. Jesse Gavino Lopez ("Mr. Lopez") was employed by



Salt Lake City Corporation ("City") and was covered by a group term life insurance policy offered to City employees through the Public Employees' Health Program ("PEHP") Life Program. [R. 240, ¶ 1.]

2. Mr. Lopez, and petitioner, Diane Welty ("Ms. Welty") were married in August 1978 and divorced in October 1997. [Id. ¶ 2.]

3. On October 29, 1997, a Decree of Divorce was ordered by Judge Pat B. Brian of the 3<sup>rd</sup> District Court of Salt Lake County, Utah. [Id. ¶ 3.]

4. In the Decree of Divorce, Mr. Lopez was ordered as follows:

24. That the Respondent currently has in force and effect a life insurance policy on his life in the face amount of \$325,000.00. That Respondent is ordered to maintain in full force and effect said life insurance policy until such time as the last of the parties' children reaches age 18 or alimony terminates, whichever is later. During the period that the child support is due, the Respondent should be ordered to irrevocably designate the Petitioner, as trustee for the minor children, beneficiary on said life insurance policy. The Respondent should be ordered to provide the Petitioner with proof that the insurance is in effect within 30 days of entry of the Divorce Decree and providing verification that said insurance is in effect by January 15<sup>th</sup> of each year thereafter.

[Id. ¶ 4.]

5. In July 1999, Mr. Lopez had coverage of \$173,000.00

with the Life Program, of which \$50,000.00 was funded by the City and the rest funded by Mr. Lopez. [Id. ¶ 5.]

6. On December 3, 1999, PEHP received a Group Term Life Application from Mr. Lopez dated on or about November 29, 1999. The application indicated that Mr. Lopez was applying for \$300,000.00 in Basic Group Term Life Coverage. The application named Diane (petitioner) for minor children as per attached divorce decree and Mary Ellen Lopez his wife as secondary beneficiary. Mr. Lopez's request for additional coverage was cancelled in December 1999 based upon contact from the City's Human Resources Department. [Id. ¶ 6.]

7. On December 3, 1999 the Life Program received a Beneficiary Change Form signed by Mr. Lopez on November 29, 1999 which listed Petitioner, "Diane (petitioner) for minor children as per attached divorce decree" as primary beneficiary and Mary Ellen Lopez his wife as secondary beneficiary. [Id. ¶ 7.]

8. The Life Program received a written copy of the Decree of Divorce entered by the Third District of the State of Utah on October 29, 1997 attached to the Beneficiary Change Form submitted by Mr. Lopez on or about December 3, 1999. [Id. ¶ 8.]

9. In a Verified Response to Petitioner's Order to Show Cause signed by Mr. Lopez on December 6, 1999, Mr. Lopez provided the following:

- a. On or about the 31<sup>st</sup> day of October, 1997 this Court entered a Decree of Divorce based upon the entry of Respondent's default.
- b. The Decree of Divorce contained a number of misstatements of fact, some even inconsistent with the terms of the Petition from which the default was taken. Respondent was not provided with a copy of the Decree of Divorce until long after the time to set the default had expired under Rule 60(b), U.R.C.P.
- c. In reality Respondent never had a life insurance policy on his life with a face amount of \$325,000.00.
- d. At the time of divorce Respondent owned two policies. The first was a basic term policy offered through his employment for approximately \$100,000. The second was a universal life insurance policy offered through Allstate Insurance which insured his life for only \$50,000.00, and which also insured the life of Petitioner for \$50,000.00. (See Exhibit "A") [Exhibit not included]. Thus, Respondent's factual burden to carry insurance has always been approximately \$150,000.00.

. . .

[Id. ¶ 9.]

10. On July 24, 2003, the Life Program received an Additional Group Term Life Employee Enrollment Form signed by Mr. Lopez on or about July 15, 2003. Mr. Lopez applied for additional coverage up to \$300,000. The designated primary beneficiary was Petitioner Diane Lopez, his ex-wife for minor

child \$300,000 per divorce decree and his son Petitioner Jacob Lopez as contingent beneficiary. This beneficiary change form also reflects Jacob Lopez's date of birth as August 27, 1988. However, Mr. Lopez did not complete underwriting requirements, and he was never issued the additional coverage. [*Id.* ¶ 10.]

11. In addition to the Additional Group Term Life Employee Enrollment Form on July 24, 2003, PEHP received a Beneficiary Change Form signed on or about July 15, 2003, by Mr. Lopez. The form revoked any previous nominations of beneficiary(ies) and designated Mary Ellen Lopez, his wife, and his ex-wife Diane Lopez petitioner for minor child as primary beneficiaries. [*Id.* ¶ 11.]

12. On October 24, 2003, PEHP received a Group Term Life Change Form signed by Mr. Lopez on or about October 21, 2003. The form stated in relevant part: "Revoking any previous nomination or beneficiary(ies), I hereby designate the following individuals to receive all benefits payable upon my death." Mr. Lopez designated Mary Ellen Lopez, his wife, as primary beneficiary and Joshua G. Lopez, his son, as contingent beneficiary. [*Id.* ¶ 12.]

13. On March 20, 2006, PEHP received a Group Term

Life/Accident Plan Beneficiary Change Form signed by Mr. Lopez on or about March 13, 2006. The form stated in relevant part: "Revoking any previous nomination or beneficiary(ies), I hereby designate the following individuals to receive all benefits payable upon my death." Mr. Lopez designated Mary Ellen Lopez, his wife, as primary beneficiary. [*Id.* ¶ 13.]

14. Mr. Lopez died on July 9, 2006. [*Id.* ¶ 14.]

15. Jacob Lopez was 17 years old at the time of Mr. Lopez's death. [*Id.* ¶ 15.]

16. On July 26, 2006, PEHP received a Group Term Life Program Claimant's Statement from Mary Ellen Lopez. [*Id.* ¶ 16.]

17. On or about August 2, 2006, PEHP issued a check in the amount of \$173,000.00 to Mary Ellen Lopez, the beneficiary designated on the Group Term Life/Accident Plan Beneficiary Change Form signed by Mr. Lopez on or about March 13, 2006. [*Id.* ¶ 17.]

18. The Life Program Group Term Life Master Policy ("Master Policy") is the contract between the Life Program and its covered members. [*Id.* ¶ 18.]

19. The Master Policy states:

PAYMENT OF BENEFITS

If a Subscriber and/or Dependent dies, the Plan will pay to the beneficiary, subject to the provisions set forth herein, the amount of coverage for which the Subscriber and/or Dependent is covered.

. . .

PAYMENT OF BENEFITS

All benefits will be payable to the beneficiary. . . Any payment made in good faith pursuant to this provision fully discharges the Plan to the extent of the payment.

. . .

BENEFICIARY

A Subscriber shall designate a primary beneficiary and a contingent beneficiary at the time of application for coverage. A Subscriber may change his or her beneficiary(ies) by filing a written notice of the change with the Plan. The change will take effect as of the date the Subscriber signed the notice of change . . . Any payment made by the Plan in good faith pursuant to this provision shall fully discharge the Plan to the extent of such payment.

. . .

MODIFICATION

No change in this Master Policy shall be valid unless approved by the Plan and unless approved by the Plan and unless such approval is evidenced by endorsement or amendment to this Master Policy. No agent has authority to change this Master Policy or waive any of its provisions.

. . .

NOTICE OF CLAIM

A written notice of claim must be given to the Plan within (20) days after the death of a Subscriber and/or Dependent unless it was not reasonably possible to do so. Notice given by or on behalf of a Subscriber and/or Dependent or his beneficiary if any, to the Plan at its office in Salt Lake City, Utah, with information sufficient to identify the Subscriber and/or Dependent, shall be deemed notice to the Plan.

. . .  
TIME OF PAYMENT OF BENEFITS

Benefits payable hereunder will be paid as soon as reasonably possible after receipt of an acceptable written proof of loss together with all supporting materials. . . .

. . .  
PAYMENT OF BENEFITS

All benefits will be payable to the beneficiary. If any payment remains unpaid at the death of the beneficiary, or if the beneficiary is a minor or is, in the opinion of the Plan, legally incapable of giving a valid receipt and discharge for any payment, the Plan, at its option, may pay such benefit to any relative or relatives by blood or connection by marriage of the Subscriber and/or Dependent who is deemed by the Plan to be equitably and legally entitled to receive the payment. Any payment made in good faith pursuant to this provision fully discharges the Plan to the extent of the payment. . . .

. . .  
LEGAL ACTION

No legal action may be brought against the Plan for unpaid benefits until at least sixty (60) days after written proof of loss has been furnished in accordance with the requirements stated above. No legal action may be brought after the expiration of three years after the time written proof of loss is required to be furnished.

. . .  
ENTIRE CONTACT

This Master Policy, any modifications to it, and the written statements, if any, of Subscribers, constitute the entire contract.

[Id. ¶ 19.]

20. On August 28, 2012, Petitioner, Ms. Welty submitted a notice of claim to the Life Program in which she presented a dispute regarding the distribution of Mr. Lopez's life insurance coverage. [Id. ¶ 20.]

21. Ms. Welty indicated that Mr. Lopez had a life insurance policy with Allstate Life Insurance in the amount of \$300,000.00 on or about October 29, 1997. [*Id.* ¶ 21.]

22. Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 49-11-618 "All data in the possession of the office is confidential, and may not be divulged by the office except as permitted by board action." Petitioners were not, and could not be, supplied with beneficiary designation information until they brought this request for board action. [*Id.* ¶ 22.]

23. On or about May 1, 2012, Diane Welty and Jacob Lopez served a summons and complaint to Utah Retirement Services and PEHP in Third District Court to recover life insurance proceeds paid by PEHP through the Group Term Life Plan to Mary Ellen Lopez the designated beneficiary of Mr. Lopez. Mary Ellen Lopez was also named as a Defendant in this action. [*Id.* ¶ 23.]

24. On September 19, 2012, the action brought in Third District Court against PEHP was dismissed without adjudication because the Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction over the claims against PEHP. In a Declaration submitted in the Third District Court, Petitioner, Ms. Welty indicated the following: "1. Shortly after the death of my



ex-husband, Mr. Lopez, I contacted Mrs. Lopez regarding the life insurance proceeds for my minor son, Jacob Lopez. 2. Mrs. Lopez told me that she had discussed the issue with her attorney, and that she did not have to pay any money to Jacob, but merely had to list Jacob on the title to her condo." [Id. ¶ 24.]

25. Petitioners filed an Amended Request for Board Action on April 5, 2013.

On September 3, 2013 Respondents waived all arguments relating to barring claims pursuant to an applicable statute of limitations. [Id. ¶ 25.]

The following additional facts from the administrative hearing are germane to the issues of appeal.

#### **Additional Facts**

1. Petitioners had power to determine that a submitted change of beneficiary form is invalid. [R. 299, 29: 125, 30:1-8].
2. Jacob Lopez has taken out student loans to fund his college education. [R. 299, 16: 15-25].
3. Ms. Welty filed a motion for an order to show cause against Mr. Lopez related to the requirement that he

carry life insurance and irrevocably designate Ms. Welty as a beneficiary. [R. 299, 8: 17-23].

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The Master Policy allows covered employees to incorporate written documents into their life insurance contracts. Mr. Lopez was ordered, in a divorce decree, and subsequently through a hearing on a motion for an order to show cause, to irrevocably designate Ms. Welty as the beneficiary of the life insurance until his biological children reached the age of majority. The life program was aware of this requirement because Mr. Lopez incorporated his divorce decree into his contract with the Life Program when he submitted a change of beneficiary form referencing a divorce decree that was in fact provided with the form.

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