2016

Diane Welty and Jacob Lopez, Plaintiffs and Appellants, vs. Utah State Retirement Board, Public Employees' Group Term Life Program, Respondent and Appellee.

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. AS A MATTER OF LAW, THE HEARING OFFICER CORRECTLY RULED THAT PEHP PROPERLY PAID LIFE INSURANCE PROCEEDS OF JESSE LOPEZ TO HIS LAST NAMED BENEFICIARY IN ACCORDANCE WITH UTAH LAW AND THE PEHP MASTER POLICY.

The Court should affirm the Hearing Officer's ruling that PEHP correctly paid life insurance benefits to the last named beneficiary of Mr. Lopez—Ms. Mary Ellen Lopez—as a matter of law. Both Utah law and the PEHP Life Master Policy require that PEHP pay the last named beneficiary.

PEHP is created and governed by Utah Code Title 49, the Utah Retirement Act. Section 49-11-609(2) requires, “[T]he most recent beneficiary designations signed by the member and filed with the office . . . are binding in the payment of any benefits due under this title.” Section 49-11-610(1)(d) then absolves PEHP, upon payment, from any additional claim related to paying these benefits in stating, “The total of the payments made [to a beneficiary] under this section shall fully discharge and release [PEHP] from any further claims.” Thus, under Utah law, PEHP was fully discharged and released from any claims by the Weltys when it paid the life insurance benefits to the last named beneficiary of Mr. Lopez.

The plain language of the PEHP Life Master Policy, which is the contract between Mr. Lopez and PEHP, as originally written, also requires that PEHP pay the last named beneficiary and absolves PEHP of further liability once it has done so. The Master Policy requires that PEHP “will pay to the beneficiary, subject to the provisions set forth herein, the amount of coverage for which the Subscriber . . . is covered.” R. 300, Respt.’s Hr’g

Ex. L, at 10. The provisions of the Master Policy allow Mr. Lopez to change his beneficiary at any time. Section V states, “A subscriber may change his or her beneficiary(ies) by filing a written notice of the change with the Plan.” *Id.* Section V concludes by providing, “Any payment made by the Plan in good faith pursuant to this provision shall fully discharge the Plan to the extent of such payment. . . .” *Id.*

Thus, under applicable law and the contract, as written, PEHP properly allowed Mr. Lopez to modify his beneficiaries in accordance with the policy language, and PEHP must be discharged for the good faith payment it made to the last named beneficiary after Mr. Lopez’s death.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD APPLY THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE PEHP MASTER POLICY AS WRITTEN BECAUSE MR. LOPEZ FAILED TO INCORPORATE THE DIVORCE DECREE INTO THE POLICY, AND THE DIVORCE DECREE DID NOT APPLY TO PEHP.

This Court should apply the plain language of Title 49 and the PEHP Life Master Policy to this matter and not incorporate the Divorce Decree between Ms. Welty and Mr. Lopez into the contract. In this case, Mr. Lopez did not specifically incorporate his Divorce Decree into the Master Policy. Although Mr. Lopez filed a change of beneficiary form in 2003 naming “Diane for minor children as per attached divorce decree,” this was not specific enough to incorporate the Divorce Decree into the policy – particularly when the document never mentions incorporation or any applicability to PEHP. Additionally, PEHP never consented to incorporation of the Divorce Decree, which is a prerequisite for it to be incorporated by reference.

Yet, even if this Court were to hold that the Divorce Decree was incorporated by reference into the PEHP Life Master Policy, the plain language of the Divorce Decree only ordered Mr. Lopez to take certain actions, not PEHP. Section 24 of the Divorce Decree, the only section that relates to life insurance, states,

. . . That Respondent [Mr. Lopez] currently has in force and effect a life insurance policy on his life in the amount of \$325,000.00. That Respondent [Mr. Lopez] is ordered to maintain in full force and effect said life insurance policy until such time as the last of the parties' children reaches age 18 or alimony terminates, whichever is later. During the period that the child support is due, the Respondent [Mr. Lopez] should be ordered to irrevocably designate the Petitioner [Ms. Welty], as trustee for the minor children, beneficiary on said life insurance policy. . . .

R. 123, ¶ 24; R. 241, ¶ 4. Nowhere in the language of the Divorce Decree is PEHP named in any way or required to take any action. R. 116-24. As such, this Court cannot impose new duties on PEHP today.

In the alternative, even if this Court were to hold that the Divorce Decree was incorporated by reference into the PEHP Master Policy, and that the terms of the Divorce Decree apply to PEHP, this would merely create an ambiguity in the Policy. The PEHP Life Master Policy clearly allows for an insured to modify beneficiary designations at will. R. 210. This is contrary to the Divorce Decree, which the Weltys argue required Mr. Lopez to create an irrevocable beneficiary. R. 123. Such an ambiguity must be resolved through the Court's contract construction rules by looking to the intent of the parties. The language of the policy, beneficiary change forms, and actions of Mr. Lopez

and PEHP in submitting and accepting beneficiary change forms clearly show that neither party intended to create an irrevocable beneficiary.

III. AS A MATTER OF EQUITY, PEHP SHOULD NOT BE HELD RESPONSIBLE TO PAY BENEFITS TWICE, PARTICULARLY WHEN THE WELTYS WAITED SIX YEARS TO BRING A CLAIM FOR MR. LOPEZ'S LIFE INSURANCE BENEFITS.

Although this case can and should be determined as a matter of law on the arguments above, even if this Court were to review equitable claims and arguments, PEHP must still prevail. As a matter of equity, absent bad faith, a life insurer like PEHP is only required to pay on a policy once. *See, e.g., Crosby v. Crosby*, 986 F.2d 79, 83 (4th Cir. 1993) (“[A]n insurer is discharged from all subsequent liability when it makes good faith payments to a purported beneficiary without notice of any competing claims.”). The Weltys never made a claim and point to nothing in their brief which contradicts that PEHP made payment to Mr. Lopez’s last named beneficiary in good faith. As such, even if PEHP had made a mistaken payment and Ms. Welty is adjudged to have been the proper beneficiary, PEHP is absolved from any claim that it has to pay Mr. Lopez’s life insurance benefit to Ms. Welty under general common law, and Ms. Welty’s remedy is against the party who received the payment.

The Utah common law, while allowing beneficiaries to be adjudicated under a divorce decree, has never held that divorce decrees apply to non-party insurers. The Weltys did not point to one case, and Appellees cannot find one, absent bad faith, that found divorce decrees binding on the life insurer itself or requiring a life insurance company to pay proceeds more than once to competing beneficiaries.

Further, equity clearly favors PEHP in this matter due to the Weltys' nearly six-year delay in bringing a claim for life insurance benefits. Mr. Lopez died on July 9, 2006. R. 243, ¶ 14. The very first contact the Weltys made with PEHP after Mr. Lopez's death was not until May 1, 2012. *See id.* ¶ 20. This delay prevented PEHP from timely investigating the Weltys' claims prior to payment. Thus, because of their failure to bring a timely claim, the Weltys' equitable claims fail according to the principles embodied in the common law doctrine of laches. PEHP would be injured due to the Weltys' lack of diligence if it has to pay the benefit twice when it only received premium for one life insurance benefit.

ARGUMENT

I. AS A MATTER OF LAW, THE HEARING OFFICER CORRECTLY RULED THAT PEHP PROPERLY PAID THE LIFE INSURANCE PROCEEDS OF JESSE LOPEZ TO HIS LAST NAMED BENEFICIARY IN ACCORDANCE WITH UTAH LAW AND THE PEHP MASTER POLICY.

This Court should affirm the Hearing Officer's ruling that PEHP correctly paid life insurance benefits to the last named beneficiary of Mr. Lopez following his death. No dispute exists between the parties that Mr. Lopez maintained life insurance coverage with PEHP through his employment with Salt Lake City Corporation. *See* R. 240, ¶ 1. Upon Mr. Lopez's death, PEHP paid the life insurance benefit of \$173,000 to his last named beneficiary, Ms. Mary Ellen Lopez, in accordance with the PEHP Life Master Policy and Utah law. R. 243-44, at ¶ 17. The only dispute is whether PEHP correctly paid the last named beneficiary under the Master Policy and Utah law or should have waited almost six years for a challenge by the Weltys before paying out the claim.

A. Utah Law Requires PEHP to Pay the Last Named Beneficiary.

The Hearing Officer correctly ruled that PEHP was required by both Utah statute and contract to pay life insurance benefits to the last named beneficiary of an insured. URS and PEHP are governed by Utah Code Title 49, the Utah State Retirement Act. Chapter 20 of this Title is the specific chapter which creates and governs PEHP as a "program" of URS. However, Chapter 11 of Title 49 provides general information and definitions which govern all the systems, plans and programs administered by URS, including PEHP.

Utah Code section 49-11-609 states in relevant part in regards to URS/PEHP

beneficiaries:

- (1) As used in this section, "member" includes a . . . covered individual
- (2) The most recent beneficiary designations signed by the member and filed with the office, including electronic records, at the time of the member's death are binding in the payment of any benefits due under this title.

. . .

The term "covered individual" is defined in section 49-11-102(17) as "any individual covered under Chapter 20, Public Employees' Benefit and Insurance Program Act." Mr. Lopez was a "covered individual" under Title 49 because he was covered by PEHP life insurance. Mr. Lopez's "most recent beneficiary designation[]" regarding his PEHP life insurance was his current wife, Mary Ellen Lopez. Utah Code Ann. § 49-11-609(2).

Under statute, this beneficiary designation was thus "binding in the payment of any benefits due" from PEHP. Utah Code Ann. § 49-11-609(2). Therefore, PEHP correctly paid the life insurance benefit to Mr. Lopez's most recent named beneficiary.

Because PEHP paid the benefit to the most recent named beneficiary, Utah law releases PEHP from any further claims for that paid benefit. Utah Code section 49-11-610(1)(d) states, "The total of the payments made [to a beneficiary] under this section shall fully discharge and release [PEHP] from any further claims." Thus, under Utah law, PEHP was fully discharged and released from any claims by the Weltys, or any other alleged beneficiary, when it paid the life insurance benefits to the last named beneficiary of Mr. Lopez.

Despite the clear language of these Utah statutes, the Weltys attempt to use Utah common law¹ to claim PEHP must pay life insurance benefits pursuant to the beneficiaries listed in a Divorce Decree to which PEHP was not a party. *See* Appellants' Br., at 20-21, 28-29 (citing *Travelers Ins. Co. v. Lewis*, 531 P.2d 484 (Utah 1975)). "Of course, where a conflict arises between the common law and a statute or constitutional law, the common law must yield."² *Hansen v. Utah State Ret. Bd.*, 652 P.2d 1332, 1337-38 (Utah 1982) (citations omitted). As such, these Utah statutes override any legal or equitable common law claims made by the Weltys regarding how a benefit should be paid.

As such, because Utah statutes governing PEHP apply, this Court must find that common law contract and equitable arguments take a back seat to the plain statutory language, which may not be disregarded. Thus, in any claim against PEHP, if PEHP pays the last named beneficiary, it is released from any further liability as a matter of law by statute. *See* Utah Code Ann. §§ 49-11-609 and -610.

¹ As discussed *infra*, the common law, like the statutes, also absolves a life insurance company from paying twice if it did so in good faith. *See, e.g., Crosby v. Crosby*, 986 F.2d 79, 83 (4th Cir. 1993) ("[A]n insurer is discharged from all subsequent liability when it makes good faith payments to a purported beneficiary without notice of any competing claims."). Absent a competing claim by the Weltys, or notice from Mr. Lopez that he intended to maintain the Weltys as his designated beneficiaries, it cannot be said that PEHP had "notice of any competing claims." *Id.*

² The U.S. Supreme Court recognized this principle, finding that state common law yields to applicable federal statute. *See, e.g., Ridgway v. Ridgway*, 454 U.S. 46 (1981) (ruling that benefit must be paid to last named beneficiary of life insurance, despite contrary divorce decree, because "controlling provisions of the [Serviceman's Group Life Insurance Act] SGLIA prevail over and displace inconsistent state law," including equitable remedies such as a constructive trust); *see also Wissner v. Wissner*, 338 U.S. 655 (1950); *Hillman v. Maretta*, --- U.S. ---, 133 S. Ct. 1943 (2013).

B. The Plain Language of the PEHP Life Master Policy Requires PEHP to Pay the Last Named Beneficiary.

The Utah statutes are dispositive of this issue. However, even if the Utah statutes do not apply, the PEHP Life Master Policy, as originally written, also forbids PEHP from paying anyone except the last designated beneficiary and allowed Mr. Lopez to change his beneficiary at any time. The PEHP Life Master Policy, the contract between Mr. Lopez and PEHP governing his life insurance benefits, states, "If a Subscriber and/or Dependent dies, *the Plan will pay to the beneficiary, subject to the provisions set forth herein*, the amount of coverage for which the Subscriber . . . is covered." R. 210 (emphasis added). Generally, an insured's right to change beneficiaries is governed by the terms of the insurance policy. *See, e.g., State Farm Life Ins. Co. v. Martinez*, 216 S.W.3d 799, 802 (Tex. 2007). The PEHP Life Master Policy allows Mr. Lopez to change his beneficiary at any time. Section V of the Master Policy states,

BENEFICIARY

A Subscriber [insured employee] shall designate a primary beneficiary and a contingent beneficiary at the time of application for coverage. *A Subscriber may change his or her beneficiary(ies) by filing a written notice of the change with the Plan. . . . Any payment made by the Plan in good faith pursuant to this provision shall fully discharge the Plan to the extent of such payment. . . .*

R. 300, Respt.'s Hr'g Ex. L, at 10 (emphasis added). The Master Policy plainly allows a Subscriber, such as Mr. Lopez, to change his beneficiary by filing a written notice of the change. The Utah Supreme Court has declared,

The beneficiary of an insurance policy has merely an expectancy, contingent on the insured's death. The insured, if owner of the policy, during his lifetime, has a right to deal with his policy in any manner he desires. This includes the

right to change the beneficiary, or to cash in the policy or sell or assign his interest.

Culbertson v. Cont'l Assur. Co., 631 P.2d 906, 909-10 (Utah 1981).

Furthermore, the PEHP Life Master Policy, like the applicable statute in Utah Code section 49-11-610, discharges PEHP of its liability for life insurance proceeds upon a payment made in good faith. *See* R. 300, Respt.'s Hr'g Ex. L, at 10 ("Any payment made by the Plan in good faith pursuant to this provision shall fully discharge the Plan to the extent of such payment.").

Thus, based on the plain language of the Master Policy, Mr. Lopez was able to change his beneficiary without permission from the beneficiary and at any time he chose, and PEHP was obligated to pay the last named beneficiary. In so doing, PEHP was accordingly discharged of any further liability.

C. The Beneficiary Change Form Required PEHP to Pay the Last Named Beneficiary.

In addition to the specific language in the Utah statutes and the PEHP Life Master Policy, the 1999 PEHP beneficiary change form submitted by Mr. Lopez, that the Weltys allege incorporates the Divorce Decree, specifically states that benefits will only be paid to "the most recent beneficiary." R. 300, Respt.'s Hr'g Ex. C. In fact, the 1999 beneficiary form states under the heading "Consideration when naming beneficiaries," that "Beneficiary payments are paid from the *most recent* beneficiary designation on file with PEHP." *Id.* (emphasis added). This statement makes no sense unless all beneficiary designations are revocable with PEHP under the plan.

Thus, when PEHP paid Mr. Lopez's last named beneficiary, it complied with Utah statutes, the contract governing the life insurance benefit as written, and the beneficiary form that declared beneficiary designations revocable. Thus, the Hearing Officer's ruling that PEHP paid the benefit to the correct party should not be disturbed.

II. THIS COURT SHOULD APPLY THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF THE MASTER POLICY AS WRITTEN BECAUSE MR. LOPEZ FAILED TO INCORPORATE THE DIVORCE DECREE INTO THE POLICY, AND THE DIVORCE DECREE DID NOT APPLY TO PEHP.

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